© 00 N o o b~ w N Pk

N N N N N DN DN NN R R R R R R R R R R
0o N o o M WwWON B O O 0o N o o D W DN - O

UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT

CENTRAL DI STRI CT OF CALI FORNI A

SOUTHERN DI VI SI ON

LESLI E A. KELLY, et al.
Plaintiff,
VS.
ARRI BA SOFT CORP., et al.

Def endant s.

N N N N N N N N N N’

On apparent first inpression, t

I nternet “visual search engine”

prima facia copyright violation, but

“fair use” doctrine.

circunstances of this case, the “fai

Digital MIIlennium Copyright Act is

Def endant's Mdtion for Parti al

First and Second Clains for Relief i

Partial Summary Judgnent is DEN ED

of others'

The Court finds that,

Case No. SA CV 99-560 GLT[JW

ORDER ON CROSS- MOTI ONS FOR
PARTI AL SUMVARY JUDGVENT

he Court holds the use by an
copyrighted images is a
it my be justified under the
under the particul ar

r use” doctrine applies, and the
not vi ol at ed.

Summary Judgnent on Plaintiff's

s GRANTED. Plaintiff's Mtion for

| . BACKGROUND

Def endant Ditto (fornerly known as Arriba) operates a “visual

search engine” on the Internet.

it allows a user to obtain a list of

Li ke ot her

| nt ernet search engi nes,

related Wb content in response




© 00 N o o b~ w N Pk

N N N N N DN DN NN R R R R R R R R R R
0o N o o M WwWN B O O 0o N o o W DN - O

to a search query entered by the user. Unlike other Internet search

engi nes, Defendant's retrieves inmages instead of descriptive text. It
produces a list of reduced, “thunbnail” pictures related to the user's
query.

During the period when nost of the relevant events in this case
occurred, Defendant's visual search engine was known as the Arriba
Vista Image Searcher. By “clicking” on the desired thunbnail, an
Arriba Vista user could view the “inmage attributes” w ndow di spl ayi ng
the full-size version of the inmage, a description of its dinensions,
and an address for the Wb site where it originated.? By clicking on
the address, the user could link to the originating Wb site for the
i mge. ?

Ditto's search engine (in both of its versions) works by
mai nt ai ni ng an i ndexed dat abase of approximately two mllion thunbnail
i mges. These thunbnails are obtained through the operation of
Ditto's “crawmer,” a conputer programthat travels the Wb in search

of images to be converted into thunbnails and added to the index.?¥

Y This full-size inmage was not technically |ocated on
Def endant's Web site. It was displayed by opening a link to its
originating Wb page. But only the inmage itself, and not any
other part of the originating Wb page, was di splayed on the
i mage attributes page. Fromthe user's perspective, the source
of the image matters less than the context in which it is
di spl ayed.

2 Defendant's current search engine, ditto.com operates in
a slightly different manner. Wen a ditto.comuser clicks on a
t hunmbnai |, two wi ndows open sinul taneously. One w ndow contai ns
the full-size imge; the other contains the originating Wb page
in full.

% Images are briefly stored in full on Defendant's server
until the thunmbnail is made; they are then deleted. Joint Stip.
1 32. There is no claimthat Defendant provides any access to
(continued. . .)
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Ditto's enpl oyees conduct a final screening to rank the nost rel evant
thunbnail s and elim nate i nappropriate inages.

Plaintiff Kelly is a photographer specializing in photographs of
California gold rush country and related to the works of Laura Ingalls
Wl der. He does not sell the photographs independently, but his
phot ogr aphs have appeared in several books. Plaintiff also nmaintains
two Wb sites, one of which (www. gol drush1849. con) provides a “virtual
tour” of California s gold rush country and pronotes Plaintiff's book
on the subject, and the other (www. showrethegol d.con) markets
corporate retreats in California's gold rush country.

In January 1999, around thirty five of Plaintiff's inmages were
i ndexed by the Ditto craw er and put in Defendant's inmage database.

As a result, these images were made available in thunbnail formto
users of Defendant's visual search engine.

After being notified of Plaintiff's objections, Ditto renoved the
images fromits database, though due to various technical problens
sone of the inmages reappeared a fewtines. Manwhile Plaintiff,
havi ng sent Defendant a notice of copyright infringenment in January,
filed this action in April. Plaintiff argues its copyrights in the
i mges were infringed by Defendant's actions and al so al |l eges
Def endant violated the Digital MIIennium Copyright Act (DMCA) by
removing or altering the copyright managenent information associ ated

with Plaintiff's inmges.?

8(...continued)
the full-sized images during this period.

4 Defendant's request for judicial notice of a Nature
article, and Plaintiff's objection to the request, are both
i nappropriate. The parties have already included this article as
(continued. . .)
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1. DI SCUSSI ON

These cross notions for sunmary adj udi cation present two
guestions of first inpression. The first is whether the display of
copyrighted i mages by a “visual search engine” on the Internet
constitutes fair use under the Copyright Act. The second is whether
the display of such inmages w thout their copyright managenent
information is a violation of the Digital MII|ennium Copyright Act.

Summary judgnent is proper if there is no genuine issue of fact
and the noving party is entitled to a judgnent as a nmatter of |aw
Fed. R Cv. Proc. 56(c). |If no nmaterial historical facts are
di sputed, the ultimate conclusion to be drawn on the issue of “fair

use” is for the Court and not a jury. Harper & Row, Publishers, Inc.

v. Nation Enterprises, 471 U S. 539 (1985); Fisher v. Dees, 794 F.2d
432, 436 (9'" Gir. 1986).
A Fair Use

In order to show copyright infringenent, Plaintiff nust show
ownership of a valid copyright and invasion of one of the exclusive
rights of copyright holders. 17 U S.C. § 106. Defendant does not
di spute the validity of Plaintiff's copyrights or his ownership of
them Defendant al so does not dispute it reproduced and displ ayed
Plaintiff's images in thunbnail formw thout authorization. Plaintiff
t hus has shown a prina facie case of copyright infringenment unless the
fair use doctrine applies.

“Fair use” is alimtation on copyright owners' exclusive right

“to reproduce the copyrighted work in copies.” 17 U S.C. § 106(1).

4(...continued)
Exhibit 5 to their Joint Stipulation of Facts.

4
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It is codified at 17 U S.C. 8 107, which provides:
Not wi t hst andi ng the provisions of sections 106 and 106A, the fair
use of a copyrighted work, including such use by reproduction in
copi es or phonorecords or by any ot her neans specified by that
section, for purposes such as criticism comment, news reporting,
teaching (including nultiple copies for classroomuse),
schol arship, or research, is not an infringenment of copyright. In
determ ni ng whet her the use nade of a work in any particul ar case
is a fair use the factors to be considered shall include--
(1) the purpose and character of the use, including whether such
use is of a comercial nature or is for nonprofit educati onal
pur poses;
(2) the nature of the copyrighted work;
(3) the amobunt and substantiality of the portion used in relation
to the copyrighted work as a whol e; and
(4) the effect of the use upon the potential market for or val ue
of the copyrighted work.
The fact that a work is unpublished shall not itself bar a
finding of fair use if such finding is made upon consi deration of
all the above factors.

Fair use is an affirmative defense, and defendants carry the

burden of proof on the issue. Anerican Geophysical Union v. Texaco

Inc., 60 F.3d 913, 918 (2d Cr. 1995); Colunbia Pictures Ind. V.

Mramax Films Corp., 11 F. Supp.2d 1179, 1187 (C.D. Cal. 1998)

(“[b]ecause fair use is an affirmative defense, Defendants bear the
burden of proof on all of its factors”). Based on an analysis of the

factors, the Court finds there is fair use here.
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1. Pur pose and Character O The Use

The first factor considers the nature of the use, including
whet her the use is commercial or educational. This, however, does not
end the inquiry. “Purpose and character” also involve an assessnent
of whether “the new work nerely supersedes the objects of the original
creation, or instead adds sonething new, with a further purpose or
different character, altering the first with new expressi on, meani ng,

or nessage; it asks, in other words, whether and to what extent the

new work is transformative.” Canpbell v. Acuff-Rose Music, 510 U. S
569, 579 (1994) (citation omtted). “[T]he nore transformative the
new work, the less will be the significance of other factors, I|ike
comercialism that may weigh against a finding of fair use.” 1d. at
579.

There is no dispute Defendant operates its Wb site for
commercial purposes. Plaintiff's inmges, however, did not represent a
significant elenent of that comerce, nor were they exploited in any
special way.® They were reproduced as a result of Defendant's
generally indiscrimnate nethod of gathering i mages. Defendant has a
commercial interest in devel oping a conprehensive thunbnail index so
it can provide nore conplete results to users of its search engine.
The Ditto crawer is designed to obtain | arge nunbers of images from

nunmer ous sources W t hout seeking authorization.® Plaintiff's inmages

 The use in this case is conmercial, but it is unusual and
| ess serious than many other commercial uses. |[If, for exanple,
Plaintiff's images were used w thout authorization in advertising
for Defendant's Wb site, a finding of fair use would be nuch
| ess likely.

6 The parties argue at |ength about the possibility of
bl ocking the Ditto crawler froma Wb site by use of a
(continued. . .)
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were indexed as a result of these nethods. Wile the use here was
commercial, it was also of a somewhat nore incidental and |ess
exploitative nature than nore traditional types of “commercial use.””

The nost significant factor favoring Defendant is the
transformative nature of its use of Plaintiff's images. Defendant's
use is very different fromthe use for which the i mrages were
originally created. Plaintiff's photographs are artistic works used
for illustrative purposes. Defendant's visual search engine is
designed to catal og and i nprove access to i nages on the Internet.
Joint Stip. 1 27-29, 32. The character of the thunbnail index is not
esthetic, but functional; its purpose is not to be artistic, but to be
conpr ehensi ve.

To a |l esser extent, the Arriba Vista inage attributes page al so
served this purpose by allowing users to obtain nore details about an

image. The inmage attributes page, however, raises other concerns. It

6(...continued)
“robots.txt” file or other nethods. Defendant posted
instructions on its Wb site for blocking the Ditto crawler in
March, after Plaintiff's images had al ready been indexed.
Plaintiff's Wb sites have never used any of these bl ocking
met hods. Joint Stip. | 34.

The Ditto craw er has, in the past, apparently visited sites
that were supposed to be blocked. Plaintiff argues this is
evi dence of bad faith by Defendant and suggests the fair use
def ense should as a result be precluded. The record shows
Def endant nmade efforts to correct problens of this sort when it
becane aware of them and did not act in bad faith.

7/ Def endant al so sought to pronote a now di sconti nued
software product called Arriba Express. Arriba Express all owed
users to “vacuunt an entire originating Wb site and store it on
their conputers sinply by pointing at a thunbnail. Joint Stip.
1 45-50, Exh. 18. The inmages would be stored along with al
content fromthe originating Wb site. Arriba Express served a
function related to that of the search engine, and Defendant's
pronotion of it represents a related type of “commercial use.”

7
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al l oned users to view (and potentially downl oad) full-size images
W t hout necessarily viewing the rest of the originating Wb page. At
the same tine, it was less clearly connected to the search engine's
pur pose of finding and organizing Internet content for users. The
presence of the image attributes page in the old version of the search
engi ne sonmewhat detracts fromthe transformati ve effect of the search
engi ne. But, when considering purpose and character of use in a new
enterprise of this sort, it is nore appropriate to consider the
transformative purpose rather than the early inperfect neans of
achieving that purpose. The Court finds the purpose and character of
Def endant' s use was on the whole significantly transformative.

The Court finds the first factor weighs in favor of fair use.

2. Nat ure of the Copyrighted Wrk

The second factor in § 107 is an acknow edgnent “that some works
are closer to the core of intended copyright protection than others,
with the consequence that fair use is nore difficult to establish when

the former works are copied.” Canpbell, supra 510 U.S. at 586.

Artistic works like Plaintiff's photographs are part of that core.
The Court finds the second factor wei ghs against fair use.

3. Amount And Substantiality of the Portion Used

The third fair use factor assesses whether the anmount copied was
“reasonable in relation to the purpose of the copying.” 1d. The
anal ysis focuses on “the persuasiveness of a [copier’s] justification
for the particular copying done, and the enquiry will harken back to
the first of the statutory factors, for . . . the extent of
perm ssi bl e copying varies with the purpose and character of the use.”

Id. at 586-87.
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In the thunmbnail index, Defendant used Plaintiff's inmages in
their entirety, but reduced themin size. Defendant argues it is
necessary for a visual search engine to copy images in their entirety
SO0 users can be sure of recognizing them and the reduction in size
and resolution mtigates damage that m ght otherw se result from
copying. As Defendant has illustrated in its brief, thunbnails cannot
be enlarged into useful inmages. Defendant's Meno of P & A, at 3. Use
of partial images or images further reduced in size would nake i nmages
difficult for users to identify, and would elimnate the useful ness of
Def endant' s search engi ne as a neans of categorizing and inproving
access to Internet resources.

As with the first factor, the Arriba Vista inmage attributes page
presents a greater problem because it displayed a full-size inage
separated fromthe surrounding content on its originating Wb page.
| mage attributes (e.g. dinensions and the address of the originating
site) could have been displayed w thout reproducing the full-size
i mge, and the display of the full inmage was not necessary to the main
pur poses of the search engine.?¥

If only the thunbnail index were at issue, Defendant's copying
woul d likely be reasonable in light of its purposes. The inmage
attributes page, however, was nore renptely related to the purposes of
the search engine. The Court finds the third factor weighs slightly
agai nst fair use.

4. Effect of the Use On The Potential Mirket or Val ue

8 The newer search engine, ditto.com appears to |essen
this problemby elimnating the imge attributes page and
si mul t aneously opening the originating Wb page along with a
full-size inmage.
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The fourth factor inquiry exam nes the direct inpact of the
def endant's use and al so considers “whether unrestricted and
w despread conduct of the sort engaged in by the defendant . . . would

result in a substantially adverse inpact on the potential market for

the original.” Canpbell, supra, 510 U S. at 590 (citation omtted).

The relevant market is Plaintiff's Wb sites as a whole. The
phot ographs are used to pronote the products sold by Plaintiff's Wb
sites (including Plaintiff's books and corporate tour packages) and
draw users to view the additional advertisenents posted on those Wb
sites. The fourth factor addresses not just the potential market for
a particular photo, but also its “value.” The value of Plaintiff's
phot ographs to Plaintiff could potentially be adversely affected if
their pronotional purposes are underm ned.

Def endant argues there is no likely negative inpact because its
search engi ne does not conpete with Plaintiff's Wb sites and actually
i ncreases the nunber of users finding their way to those sites.

Plaintiff argues the market for his various products has been
harmed. Defendant's conduct created a possibility that sone users
m ght inproperly copy and use Plaintiff's imges from Defendant's
site. Defendant's search engine al so enabl ed users to “deep |ink”
directly to the pages containing retrieved i mages, and thereby bypass
the “front page” of the originating Wb site. As a result, these
users would be less likely to view all of the advertisenents on the
Wb sites or viewthe Wb site's entire pronotional nmessage. However
Plaintiff has shown no evidence of any harm or adverse inpact.

In the absence of any evidence about traffic to Plaintiff's Wb

sites or effects on Plaintiff's businesses, the Court cannot find any

10
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market harmto Plaintiff. The Defendant has nmet its burden of proof
by offering evidence tending to show a | ack of market harm and
Plaintiff has not refuted that evidence. The Court finds the fourth
factor weighs in favor of fair use.

5. Concl usi on--Fair Use

The Court finds two of the four factors weigh in favor of fair
use, and two weigh against it. The first and fourth factors
(character of use and | ack of market harnm) weigh in favor of a fair
use finding because of the established inportance of search engi nes
and the “transformative” nature of using reduced versions of imges to
organi ze and provide access to them The second and third factors
(creative nature of the work and anmount or substantiality of copying)
wei gh agai nst fair use.

The first factor of the fair use test is the nost inportant in
this case. Defendant never held Plaintiff's work out as its own, or
even engaged in conduct specifically directed at Plaintiff's work.
Plaintiff's images were swept up along with two mllion others
avai lable on the Internet, as part of Defendant's efforts to provide
its users with a better way to find images on the Internet.

Def endant's purposes were and are inherently transformative, even if
its realization of those purposes was at tinmes inperfect. Were, as
here, a new use and new technol ogy are evol ving, the broad
transformati ve purpose of the use weighs nore heavily than the
inevitable flaws in its early stages of devel opnent.

The Court has weighed all of the § 107 factors together. The
Court finds Defendant's conduct constituted fair use of Plaintiff's

imges. There is no triable issue of material fact remaining to be

11
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resol ved on the question of fair use, and sunmmary adjudication is
appropriate. Defendant's notion is GRANTED and Plaintiff's notion is
DENIED as to the copyright infringenent clains.

B. Digital MIIennium Copyright Act

Enacted on Cctober 28, 1998, the Digital M Il ennium Copyright Act
(DMCA) inplenments two earlier World Intellectual Property Organization
treaties. Section 1202 of the DMCA governs “integrity of copyright
managenent information.”% Section 1202(a) prohibits falsification of
copyright managenent information with the intent to aid copyright
infringenment. Section 1202(b) prohibits, unless authorized, several
forms of know ng renoval or alteration of copyright managenent

i nformation.!” Section 1203 creates a federal civil action for

¥ “Copyright nmanagerment information” is defined, in

rel evant part, as:
[Alny of the follow ng information conveyed in connection
with copies . . . of awrk . . . or displays of a work,
including in digital form. . . :
(1) The title and other information identifying the work,
including the information set forth on a notice of
copyright.
(2) The nanme of, and other identifying information about,
t he aut hor of a work.
(3) The nanme of, and other identifying information about,
t he copyright owner of the work, including the information
set forth in a notice of copyright.

17 U.S.C. § 1202 (c).

10/ Section 1202(b) provides, in relevant part,

No person shall, w thout the authority of the copyright
owner or the | aw -

(1) intentionally renove or alter any copyright managenent
i nformati on,

(3) distribute . . . copies of works . . . know ng that

copyri ght managenent information has been renoved or altered

wi thout authority of the copyright owner or the |aw,

knowi ng, or, with respect to civil remedi es under section

1203, having reasonabl e grounds to know, that it wll

i nduce, enable, facilitate, or conceal an infringenent of
(continued. . .)

12
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viol ati ons of these provisions.

Plaintiff argues Defendant violated 8§ 1202(b) by displ ayi ng
thunmbnails of Plaintiff's images w thout displaying the correspondi ng
copyright managenent information consisting of standard copyri ght
notices in the surrounding text. Joint Stip. of Facts, {1 64-69.
Because these notices do not appear in the inmages thenselves, the
Ditto craw er did not include themwhen it indexed the inmages.'¥ 1d.
1 70. As a result, the inages appeared in Defendant's index w thout
t he copyri ght nmanagenent information, and any users retrieving
Plaintiff's images while using Defendant's Wb site would not see the
copyri ght managenent i nformation.

Section 1202(b) (1) does not apply to this case. Based on the
| anguage and structure of the statute, the Court holds this provision
applies only to the renoval of copyright managenent information on a
plaintiff's product or original work. Moreover, even if § 1202(b) (1)
applied, Plaintiff has not offered any evidence show ng Defendant's
actions were intentional, rather than nerely an unintended side effect
of the Ditto crawl er's operation.

Here, where the issue is the absence of copyright managenent
information fromcopies of Plaintiff's works, the applicable provision
is 8 1202(b)(3). To show a violation of that section, Plaintiff nust

show Def endant nekes available to its users the thunbnails and full -

107, .. continued)
any right under [federal copyright |aw.

11 There was one exception--a version of the “Shasta
Rai nbow’ i nmage obtained by the Ditto crawer froma third-party
Wb site. The copyright notice for that inmage was incorporated
into the image itself (fine print along the edge of the picture).
See Joint Stip., 1Y 72-73. Plaintiff's allegations of DMCA
violations are inapplicable to this inmge.

13
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size images, which were copies of Plaintiff's work separated from
their copyright managenent information, even though it knows or should
know this will lead to infringenment of Plaintiff's copyrights. There
is no dispute the Ditto crawl er renoved Plaintiff's inmages fromthe
context of Plaintiff's Web sites where their copyright nanagenent
information was | ocated, and converted themto thunbnails in
Defendant's index. There is also no dispute the Arriba Vista search
engi ne allowed full-size imges to be viewed w thout their copyright
managenent i nformation.

Def endant's users could obtain a full-sized version of a
t hunbnai | ed i mage by clicking on the thunbnail. A user who did this
was given the nanme of the Wb site from whi ch Def endant obtai ned the
i mage, where any associ ated copyri ght managenent i nformati on woul d be
avai l abl e, and an opportunity to link there.'? Users were also
informed on Defendant's Wb site that use restrictions and copyri ght
[imtations may apply to inmages retrieved by Defendant's search
engi ne. ¥

Based on all of this, the Court finds Defendant did not have

“reasonabl e grounds to know it would cause its users to infringe

12l Thr ough Defendant's current search engine, ditto.com the
user can no |longer open a full-sized i nage w thout al so opening
the site where its copyright managenent information is |ocated.

B Plaintiff argues Defendant's warnings are insufficient
because they do not appear with the thunbnail imges on the
search result pages produced by the search engine. The Arriba
Vista Wb site only offered a warning if users clicked on a link
toits “Copyright” page. This warning may arguably have been
pl aced in the wong place to deter sonme potential copyright
infringers. But this does not necessarily nmean Defendant “knew’
or “should have known” for the purposes of a DMCA violation,
especially since Plaintiff offers no evidence of any actual
copyright infringenent about which Defendant “should have known.”

14
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Plaintiff's copyrights. Defendant warns its users about the
possibility of use restrictions on the inmages in its index, and
instructs themto check with the originating Wb sites before copying
and using those images, even in reduced thunbnail form

Plaintiff's inmages are vul nerable to copyright infringenent
because they are displayed on Wb sites. Plaintiff has not shown
users of Defendant's site were any nore likely to infringe his
copyrights, any of these users did infringe, or Defendant shoul d
reasonably have expected infringenment.

There is no genuine issue of material fact requiring a trial on
Plaintiff's DMCA clains, and summary adj udi cation is appropriate. The
11
11
11
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Court finds there was no violation of DMCA § 1202. Def endant's notion

is GRANTED and Plaintiff's nmotion is DENIED on the DMCA cl aim

DATED: Decenber , 1999.

GARY L. TAYLOR
UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT JUDGE

16




	uscourts.gov
	H:WordPerfect99-0560.PDF


